PUBLIC NOTICE OF A MEETING FOR
STATE OF NEVADA BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINERS

DATE OF MEETING: Friday, January 23, 2026 Time: 8:00 a.m.

The meeting of the State of Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners (Board) will be
conducted and may be attended through a remote technology system (video- or
teleconference). To participate remotely, individuals are invited to enter the meeting
from the Zoom website at https://usO6web.zoom.us/j/81461996945. To access the
meeting via audio only, dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter the meeting ID: 814 6199
6945. (The Board office recommends that individuals unfamiliar with ZOOM visit the
website in advance to familiarize themselves with the format by viewing the online
tutorials and reading the FAQs. To learn more about Zoom, go to https://zoom.us.)
The meeting may also be attended at the Board office, located at 3080 South Durango
Drive, Suite 102, Las Vegas, NV 89117.

The Board will accept public comment via email. Those wishing to make public
comment should email their public comments to the Board office at
nbop@govmail.state.nv.us. Written public comments must be received prior to the
start of the meeting and will be forwarded to the Board for their consideration. Public
comments will be included in the public record (meeting minutes) but will not
necessarily be read aloud during the meeting. In compliance with Nevada Revised
Statutes (NRS) Chapter 241 (Open Meeting Law), the Board is precluded from taking
action on items raised by public comment which are not already on the agenda.

The Board may take items out of order, combine items for consideration, and items
may be pulled or removed from the agenda at any time. Public comment will be taken
at the beginning and end of the meeting. The public may provide comment on any
matter whether or not that matter is a specific topic on the agenda. However, prior to
the commencement and conclusion of a contested case or quasi-judicial proceeding that
may affect the due process rights of an individual, the Board may refuse to consider
public comment on that item. (NRS 233B.126). Public comment that is willfully
disruptive is prohibited, and individuals who willfully disrupt the meeting may be
removed from the meeting. (NRS 241.030(5)(b)). The Board may convene in closed
session to consider the character, alleged misconduct, professional competence or
physical or mental health of a person (NRS 241.030). Once all items on the agenda are
completed, the meeting will adjourn.

AGENDA

1. Call To Order/Roll Call to Determine the Presence of a Quorum.

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 1 of 6


https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81461996945
https://zoom.us/
mailto:nbop@govmail.state.nv.us

2. Public Comment. Note: Public comment is welcomed by the Board and may be
limited to three minutes per person at the discretion of the Board President. Public
comment will be allowed at the beginning and end of the meeting, as noted on the
agenda. The Board President may allow additional time to be given a speaker as
time allows and in their sole discretion. Comments will not be restricted based on
viewpoint. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the
agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on an agenda as an item
upon which action may be taken (NRS 241.020).

3. Minutes. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve
the Minutes of the State of Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners’
December 12, 2025, Meeting.

4. Financials

- (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Final
Treasurer’s Report for Fiscal Year 2026 (July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2026).
5. Legislative/Regulation Update

- (For Possible Action) Report, Discussion and Possible Action on Regulation
Activities and Legislative Activities, including the work of Interim Committees, the
Nevada Legislature, the Legislative Counsel Bureau, and any position or action
the Board may take on or in response to Bills that have been signed into Law,
Legislative Bills, and Bill Draft Requests that the Board is tracking, following, or
that may impact the Board and its Operations.

6. Report from the Nevada Psychological Association.
7. Board Office Operations.

8. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action on Pending Consumer
Complaints:

A. Complaint #23-0918
B. Complaint #24-0312(1)

C. Complaints #24-0711
#24-0719
#24-0726
#24-0823

D. Complaint #24-0730
E. Complaint #25-0110

F. Complaint #25-0410

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 2 of 6



G. Complaint #25-0414
H. Complaint #25-0715
I. Complaint #25-0721
J. Complaint #25-0812(2)
Complaint #25-0818(1)
Complaint #25-1117
. Complaint #25-1125
Complaint #25-1231

©z 2 r =

Complaint #26-0114

(For Possible Action) Review and Possible Action on Applications for
Licensure as a Psychologist or Registration as a Psychological Assistant,
Intern, or Trainee. The Board May Convene in Closed Session to Receive
Information Regarding Applicants, Which May Involve Considering the
Character, Alleged Misconduct, Professional Competence or Physical or
Mental Health of the Applicant (NRS 241.030). All Deliberation and Action
Will Occur in an Open Session. Note: Applicant names are listed on the agenda to
allow the Board to discuss applicants when necessary to move the applicant through the
licensure process. The listing of an applicant’s name on the agenda indicates only that an
application for licensure/registration has been received. It does not mean that the
application has been approved or that the applicant must appear at the meeting in order
for the applicant’s application to move forward through the licensure process. If an
applicant needs to attend the meeting for the Board to take action, the applicant will be
notified in writing prior to the meeting. Please, direct questions or comments regarding
licensure applications to the Board office.

PSYCHOLOGISTS
Kaitlyn Abrams
Andrew Ahrendt
Onyinyechi Anukem
Sara Arad

Katia Arroyo Carrion
Anna Arya

Meredith Avedon
Elsa Baena

Rachel Ballard
Rachel Bangit
Adam Barkey

Heidi Bausch-Ryan
Brian Benjamin
Arthur Bennett, Jr.

Alyssa Berlin

Debra Berry-Malmberg
Jennifer Blitz

Leah Bonilla

David Bridgett

David Brown

Hunter Brown

Lauren Buchanan
Elizabeth Buckley
Brian Burgess
Ramona Burroughs
Jonathan Campos
DeAnn Cary

Jerry Chen
Brandi Chew
Christine Chew
Taylor Chille
Chad Christensen
Tasman Cleaver
Brian Clemente
Alyssa Cohen
David Contreras
Wanda Crews
Danine Dean
Amanda de Armas

Shannon Dillon
Elizabeth Dimovski-Jackson

Anna Dolatabadi
Christine Dozier
Alana Duschane
Ahmed Elsokkary
Julian Filoteo
Glory Finnegan
John Fite

Ross Flowers
Gratia Foerster
Stephen Francis
Deborah Fraser
Sylva Frock
Vanessa Fuentes
Tyson Furr

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 3 of 6



Saacha Gates
Kylie Gelin

Teresa George
Carolyn Gibson
Nancy Graies
Kimberly Gray

Lisa Gunderson
Michelle Haines
Marilyn Harris
Jennifer Harrison
Fredrica Hendrix
Martha Hernandez
Chelsea Howe
Beverly Howze
Kelly Humphreys
Mark Ingram

Tina Jimenez
Deborah Johnson
Natalie Jones

Kathi Jones-Lorenz
Jorge Juarez-Asturias
Robin Kay
Kristopher Kern
Veronica King

Kele Kirschenbaum
Lucas Klein

Charalambos Kyriacou
Ari Lakritz

Joseph Latham
Sandra Lawrence-Clarke
Robert Leach

Andrew Leone
Angela Lewis
Benjamin Loew
Chelsea Mackey

Holly Majszak
Heather Manor
Madison Martins
Sarah Mauck

Marilyn McCune
Katherine McKenzie
Paul McLaughlin
Carol McLean

Lorena Michel
Shantay Mines
Christine Moberg
Luzviminda Morrow
Missi Nadeau

Mary Nelson

Robert Nemerovski
Stephanie Northington
Judith Nurik

PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSISTANTS

Rosalind Banks
Rachel Barry

Tracy Basile

Keerat Bhatti

Amira Blake

Judit Brissette

Candis Carswell Mitchell
Angelica Castro Bueno
Julia Catlin

Taylor Chille

Shantay Coleman

Althea Cook
Jacqueline Eddy
Amelia Evans
Gianna Famolare
Ryan Fechner
Kylie Fraga
Milagro Gonzalez
Kimberly Gray
Jaqueline Green
Akiko Hinds
Tiffany Hunter

PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERNS

Adaeze Chike-Okoli

Jacqueline Friar

Lallabrigida Cooper-Singleton Edgar Garcia
Jacqueline Eddy Tiaira Green
PSYCHOLOGICAL TRAINEES

Hoor Ul Ain Nandita Banik
Lily Akana Glenn Blessington

Marissa Alvarez
Vanni Jefferson Arcaina

Linnea Bacon
Kylie Baer

Lilla Brody

Maayra Butt
Carter Causse
Kieffer Christianson

Lisa Orbe-Austin
Mili Parikh

Hae Kyung Park
Beverly Paschal
Bahara Payandeh
Stephanie Phan
Renata Pleshchuk-Kowalski
Stephanie Procell
Maxwell Rappoport
Wendy Raskey

Lee Rather

Jason Richardson
Jacquelyn Rinaldi
Kristin Robinson
Shannon Rocker
Olivia Rold
Jessica Roos

Jay Rosen

Eric Rosmith
Taraneh Rostami
Mary Ann Rowe
Benjamin Rubin
Daniel Schellenberg
Laura Sheridan
Dianne Shumay
Laljit Sidhu
Christie Stallard

Madison Hurley
Erica Marino
Michael McNamara
Jessica Mills
Shantay Mines
Danielle Morabito
Michellane Mouton
Blake Oldfield
Dylena Pierce
Ashley Poston

Eric Prince

Ludyvina Hernandez
Chiante’ Jemison
Michael McNamara

Delaney Collins
Regine Deguzman
Monica Done
Ashley Dorsey
Erin Dunn
Randolph Dupont

Katelyn Steele
Willann Stone
Amy Swope

Tara Tanaka
Matthew Tatum
Michelle Tatum
Thao Taylor
Clary Tepper

Lee Underwood
Keith Valone
Cynthia Villaverde
Brittany Voelker
Ina Von Ber
Michelle Vorwerk
Allison Vreeland
Kristi Walter
Bethany Walters
Nelson Walters
Charlotte Watley
Paula Wilbourne
Christine Winter
Caedy Young
Gordon Zilberman

Audrie Reilly
Dominic Roberts
Hannah Salanoa
Shweta Sharma
Sharon Simington
Mary Smirnova
Barbara Sommer
Michelle Tatum
Monica Zepeda Rojo

Sara Moore
Bianca Reaves
Miriam Vela-Sanchez

Addison Duvall
Rosha Feizi Lighvan
Tatev Gaboyan
Tyler Gamlen
Sneha Gupta
Ariadna Gutierrez

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 4 of 6



Michelle Harden Sarah Lage Mattea Pezza Shannon Sagert

Haleigh Harris Poorvi Minns Sherley Pierre Madison Thomasson
Bianca Islas Eibhlis Moriarty Savannah Quach Karen Valle Frias
Sierra Ann Jarvis Maegan Nation Bianca Reaves Teresa Walker
Edwin Jurado Frank Nieblas Melanie Rede Brenda Zavala
Jordan Kaye Ananda Peixoto-Couto Lauren Reyes

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

A. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Dr. Tracy

Basile’s Request to Extend her Registration as a Psychological Assistant for a
Fourth Year.

B. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Consider Dr. Kristi

Walter’s Application for Re-licensure.

(For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action on Updates
Regarding the Work of the 2025 SB165 Behavioral Health and Wellness
Practitioner Advisory Group.

(For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Moving
Forward with Regulatory Language that Provides for Criminal and Other
Conduct as a Basis for Disciplinary Action and the Duty of Licensees to
Report Such Conduct.

(For Possible Action) Schedule of Future Board Meetings, Hearings, and
Workshops. The Board May Discuss and Decide Future Meeting Dates,
Hearing Dates, and Workshop Dates.

- The next regular meeting of the Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners is
currently scheduled for Friday, March 6, 2026, beginning at 8:00 a.m.

Requests for Future Board Meeting Agenda Items (No Discussion Among
the Members will Take Place on this Item)

Public Comment - Public comment is welcomed by the Board and may be limited
to three minutes per person at the discretion of the Board President. Public
comment will be allowed at the beginning and end of the meeting, as noted on the
agenda. The Board President may allow additional time to be given a speaker as
time allows and in their sole discretion. Comments will not be restricted based on
viewpoint. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the
agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on an agenda as an
item upon which action may be taken (NRS 241.020)

(For Possible Action) Adjournment

The Board may recess for lunch for approximately one hour, at a time to be determined.

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 5 of 6



The Board is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who
are disabled and wish to participate in the meeting. If such arrangements are necessary,
please contact the board office at (702) 276-0926 no later than 4 p.m. on Thursday,
January 22, 2026.

For supporting materials, visit the Board’s website at https://psyexam.nv.gov/ or contact
the Board office by telephone (702-276-0926), e-mail (nbop@govmail.state.nv.us), or in
writing at Board of Psychological Examiners, 3080 South Durango Drive, Suite 102, Las
Vegas, Nevada 89117.

In accordance with NRS 241.020, this public meeting notice was properly posted at or
before 8 a.m. on Tuesday, January 20, 2026, at the following locations:

e Board office located at 3080 South Durango Drive, Suite 102, Las Vegas, NV 89117;
e Nevada Public Notice website: https://notice.nv.gov/; and
e Board’s website at https://www.psyexam.nv.gov/meetings/2026-board--committee-

meetings/

In addition, this public meeting notice has been sent to all persons on the Board’s meeting
notice list, pursuant to NRS 241.020(3)(c).

Board of Psychological Examiners, January 23, 2026
Public Meeting Notice and Agenda, Page 6 of 6


https://psyexam.nv.gov/
mailto:nbop@govmail.state.nv.us
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://www.psyexam.nv.gov/meetings/2026-board--committee-meetings/
https://www.psyexam.nv.gov/meetings/2026-board--committee-meetings/

Item 2

Dear Members of the Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners,

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this public comment for the January 23, 2026 Board
meeting. I appreciate the care and seriousness with which the Board approaches its responsibility to
protect Nevada patients and to oversee a profession that serves individuals and families during
vulnerable moments. I previously submitted a longer public comment, which was included as Item 2
in the December 12, 2025 Meeting Packet. I offer this brief follow-up to share a focused caregiver
perspective regarding children, other vulnerable patients, and informed consent. I am also
submitting a longer supplemental public comment for the administrative record, which provides

additional context, ethical analysis, and supporting detail related to these concerns.

Children require special consideration. Children cannot give informed consent. Parents and caregivers
rely on the Board to help ensure that professionals working with children meet appropriate standards
of safety and stability. Psychological treatment for children is often private and unsupervised, involving
a significant power imbalance and a high degree of trust. From a parent’s perspective, it is deeply
concerning to consider that a child could continue meeting alone with a psychologist for an extended
period while that provider may be facing serious criminal charges or other circumstances suggesting
instability, without the Board’s knowledge and without parental awareness. This concern does not
presume guilt. It reflects a parent’s right to informed consent and to make decisions based on material

information affecting their child’s wellbeing.

Similar concerns apply to other vulnerable populations, including elderly patients and adults with
diminished capacity, whose families and caregivers also rely on timely information to protect those in

their care.

As reflected in recent Board discussions, without clearer statutory or regulatory language, the Board’s
early tools are limited primarily to summary suspension or ethics-based, case-by-case actions once
information becomes known. Summary suspension is essential, but clearer reporting requirements
would provide earlier awareness and more consistent footing. Many licensing boards require reporting
of criminal matters, excluding minor traffic offenses, within defined timeframes, often as early as 24

hours.

Respectfully, strengthening reporting requirements is not about assigning blame, but about informed
consent, transparency, and protecting those who cannot fully protect themselves. Thank you

for your time and continued commitment to Nevada’s patients and families.
Respectfully,

Nevada Citizen, Parent, and Caregiver

Public Comment — Criminal Conduct & Reporting (January 23, 2026)



Item 2

Dear Members of the Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners,

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this public comment for the January 23, 2026 Board
meeting. I am grateful for the care, time, and seriousness with which the Board approaches its
responsibility to protect Nevada patients and to oversee a profession that serves individuals and
families during some of the most vulnerable moments of their lives. I offer these comments with

humility, respect for the Board’s role, and a sincere desire to support its public-protection mission.

I previously submitted a detailed, research-supported public comment, which was included as Item 2
in the December 12, 2025 Meeting Packet. That submission addressed broader regulatory
considerations. I respectfully offer this follow-up to share a caregiver-centered perspective focused on
children, other vulnerable patients, and informed consent, and to reflect concerns raised by Board

members and counsel across multiple discussions.

Children require special consideration. Children cannot give informed consent. Parents and caregivers
rely on licensing boards to help ensure that the professionals entrusted with their children’s care meet
appropriate standards of safety, stability, and accountability. Psychological treatment for children is
often private, unsupervised, and deeply trust-based, involving a significant power imbalance between a

child and an adult professional.

From a parent’s perspective, it is deeply unsettling to consider that a child could continue meeting
alone with a psychologist for weeks or months while that provider may be facing serious criminal
charges or other circumstances suggesting instability, without the Board’s knowledge and without
parental awareness. This concern does not presume guilt, wrongdoing, or outcome. Rather, it reflects a
parent’s fundamental right to informed consent: to know who is sitting alone with their child in a
confidential setting and to make thoughtful decisions based on material information affecting their

child’s safety and wellbeing.

Similar concerns arise for other vulnerable populations, including elderly patients and adults with
diminished capacity or increased dependence on their providers. In these settings, families and

caregivers likewise rely on timely, accurate information to fulfill their protective role.

During the Board’s discussions, it was noted that without clearer statutory or regulatory language, the
Board’s available tools are limited. In the absence of defined reporting and conduct standards, the
Board must rely primarily on summary suspension in extreme circumstances or proceed through
ethics-based or case-by-case actions once information becomes known. Summary suspension is an

essential safeguard, and I respect its importance. At the same time, relying on emergency or ad hoc

Public Comment — Supplemental Submission (January 23, 2026) | Page 1 of 2



Item 2

measures alone leaves the Board with little structure during the period between charge and resolution

of serious criminal matters.

Clear reporting requirements would give the Board earlier awareness and more consistent footing,
without predetermining discipline. As reflected in the Board’s materials, many licensing boards require
licensees to report serious criminal matters, excluding minor traffic offenses, within defined
timeframes, often ranging from 24 hours to 30 days. From an informed-consent and patient-safety
perspective, earlier reporting is especially important in professions serving children and other
vulnerable individuals. A 24-hour reporting requirement for serious charges would allow the Board to
thoughtfully assess potential risk, preserve full due-process protections, and determine whether interim

safeguards are appropriate while a matter is pending.

Clear and consistent reporting standards also support the integrity of the profession. Jurisdictions with
well-defined accountability frameworks tend to attract practitioners who value transparency, ethical
clarity, and public trust. Conversely, unclear or limited standards may unintentionally signal reduced

oversight, which can affect patient confidence and a state’s healthcare reputation.

Respectfully, strengthening reporting requirements is not about punishment or presumption of guilt.
It is about informed consent, transparency, and protecting those who cannot fully protect themselves,
while also providing the Board with clearer, more reliable tools to carry out its public-protection

mandate.

Thank you for your time, your careful consideration, and your continued commitment to Nevada’s

patients and families.
Respecttully,

Nevada Citizen, Parent, and Caregiver

Public Comment — Supplemental Submission (January 23, 2026) | Page 2 of 2



ltem 3

PUBLIC NOTICE OF A MEETING FOR
STATE OF NEVADA BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINERS
MEETING MINUTES

December 12, 2025

1. Call To Order/Roll Call to Determine the Presence of a Quorum.

The meeting of the Nevada State Board of Psychological Examiners was called to order
by President Lorraine Benuto, PhD, at 8:03 a.m. on December 12, 2025, online via
“Zoom” and physically at the office of the Board of Psychological Examiners, 3080 S.
Durango Drive, Suite 102, Las Vegas, Nevada 89117.

Roll Call: Board President, Lorraine Benuto, PhD, Secretary/Treasurer, Stephanie
Woodard, PsyD, members, Stephanie Holland, PsyD, and Catherine Pearson, PhD were
present at roll call. Monique Abarca, LCSW, Soseh Esmaeili, PsyD, and Robert Moering,
PsyD were absent. There was a quorum of the Board members.

Also present were Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Harry Ward; Board Investigators
Sheila Young and Whitney Owens; Board Consultant Gary Lenkeit; Executive Director
Laura Arnold, Administrative Director Sarah Restori; members of the public: Yvonne
Fritz, Kristi Walter, David Hines and Kay See (Campbell Jones Cohen CPAs), Donald
Hoier, Jodi Thomas (UNR Counseling Services), Tatsiana Razzhavaikina, Beth Scott (NV
Medicaid), Christopher Shewbarran (NPA), Candis Carwell-Mitchell, Mary Marcu, Kelly
Robertson, Andrew Parron, Call-In User 1 (unidentified), and Becky Savio.

2. Public Comment. Note: Public comment is welcomed by the Board and may be
limited to three minutes per person at the discretion of the Board President. Public
comment will be allowed at the beginning and end of the meeting, as noted on the
agenda. The Board President may allow additional time to be given a speaker as
time allows and in their sole discretion. Comments will not be restricted based on
viewpoint. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the
agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on an agenda as an item
upon which action may be taken (NRS 241.020).

Deputy Attorney General requested that no public comment be made on pending
complaints.

There was no public comment.
3. (For Possible Action) Public Hearing to Solicit Comments on Regulations

(Legislative Counsel Bureau File Number R001-25 and R041-25) Proposed
for Adoption; Possible Action to Make Revisions to and/or Forward the

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 1 of 15



ltem 3

Proposed Regulation(s) to the Legislative Counsel Bureau in Accordance
with NRS Chapter 233B.

Dr. Benuto noted that there were 2 regulations to be considered during the regulations
hearing — R001-25 and R041-25.

- R001-25

President Benuto stated that during the December 6, 2024, and January 10, 2025,
Regulation Workshops on proposed revisions to the Board’s continuing education
regulation, the Board made a determination as to the language regarding continuing
professional development it would forward to the LCB for a regulation draft. That
proposed language was forwarded to the Legislative Counsel Bureau for an LCB file
number and a regulation draft, which the LCB returned as R001-25.

Dr. Benuto went on to explain that R001-25 was before the Board during the October
24, 2025, meeting, during which there were some questions that were raised and for
which the Board office stated it would find and provide answers. She noted that the
Board office provided answers to the questions that were raised and forwarded those
answers to the Board for consideration during the continued regulation hearing.

Dr. Benuto opened the regulation hearing on R001-25 for public comment. There was
no public comment.

Dr. Benuto closed public comment and opened the hearing for Board discussion. Dr.
Pearson inquired about how the live/face-to-face requirements would work if all 15
live/face-to-face were done by way of continuing professional development (CPD). The
executive director noted that, because CPDs are included in what can be done for
continuing education, all 15 required live/face-to-face CEs could be satisfied by 15 CPD
CEs, and the remaining 15 credits could be done via distance CE instruction. Dr.
Benuto agreed. The executive director further clarified that, whether a CDP is live/face-
to-face or distance is baked into the regulation depending on the nature of the CPD as
it relates to the regulatory definition of live/face-to-face.

In clarifying Dr. Pearson’s question, Dr. Woodard inquired as to whether the regulation,
as drafted, is a substantive change from the in person/live CE requirement that
previously existed, in response to which Dr. Benuto indicated it was not. Dr. Benuto
explained that the overall requirements are the same, and that the change concerns the
broad umbrella of CEs that would now include CEUs and CPDs, the requirement of 15
live/face-to-face and 15 distance learning being the same. Dr. Pearson further asked to
confirm her understanding that the Ethics and Suicide P/A requirements can only be
satisfied by CE courses, which the executive director confirmed as it concerns the term
“instruction” as it relates to those particular CE requirements. Dr. Pearson then asked
to confirm that if she satisfied the live CE requirement with CPDs, the Ethics, Cultural

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 2 of 15



ltem 3

Competency, and Suicide P/A could all be distance CE programs. Dr. Benuto expressed
concern about what may be confusion regarding the language, in response to which the
executive director recommended developing policy around the regulation that would
explain the intent of the regulation.

The Administrative Director noted that she gets a lot of questions from licensees
regarding CE requirements under existing language, and requested confirmation that,
as the revision moves forward, the Board approves the scenario of 15 live CPD credits
with the remaining CE requirements being distance learning. Dr. Woodard asked
whether there was previously a requirement that those specific CE programs be live, as
it was her understanding that there was not. The executive director said her
understanding was correct, and that this is all under the same umbrella that has always
existed for CEs required for renewal, but that the Board is just adding additional ways
for CEs to be satisfied. Dr. Benuto suggested a “cheat sheet” for licensees regarding
the CE requirement to help make things clear, and suggested moving on to a motion to
approve the regulation.

Before asking for a motion, the executive director asked to be able to provide the
answer to the other question raised regarding why the teaching CPD was not expanded
to other mental health professions. She explained that during the December 2024
workshop, there had been discussion on that issue, and the Board decided to expand
the CPD teaching to include both counseling and clinical psychology and to allow the
teaching of master’s level courses in addition to doctorate level course, but that, despite
being directed to the further expansion query, the Board did not expand the teaching
CPD beyond that.

On motion by Stephanie Woodard, second by Catherine Pearson, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved LCB draft R001-25. (Yea: Lorraine
Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion
Carried: 4-0.

Dr. Benuto again opened the regulation hearing for public comment. Dr. Tatsiana
Razzhavaikina expressed her gratitude for the Board taking the time and effort it did to
consider the various aspects of professional education and said that the language
serves the profession and her as a professional in continuing her education. Dr.
Razzhavaikina also supported the Board preparing a policy that would further clarify the
CE requirements, and further asked about submitting a course for the Board’s approval.

The executive director asked to respond to the latter request for clarification, and
explained that there is a separate application for licensees to submit for approval a CE
program that is not otherwise accredited or previously approved by the Board, and that
the application is available on the Board’s website.

Dr. Benuto closed the regulation hearing on R001-25.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 3 of 15



ltem 3

- R041-25

Dr. Benuto stated that, during its August 22, 2025, meeting, the Board conducted a
Regulation Workshop on proposed revisions to NAC Chapter 641 resulting from 2025
SB251 (designations for psychological interns and psychological assistants) and AB196
(in relevant part, repealing the statutory requirement that firms, partnerships, and
corporations register with the Board). She explained that, during that workshop, the
Board made a determination as to the regulatory language on which it would move
forward to align with SB251 and AB196. That proposed language was forwarded to the
Legislative Counsel Bureau for an LCB file number and a regulation draft, in response to
which the LCB provided R041-25.

Dr. Benuto noted that the LCB draft of R041-25 was included in the meeting materials
for the Board’s review, and that the notice of the Board'’s regulation hearing was timely
posted on November 10, 2025.

Dr. Benuto opened the regulation hearing on R041-25 for public comment.

There was no public comment.

Dr. Benuto then opened the regulation hearing for comments or questions from the
Board. Dr. Holland inquired about the language changes and the intent to expand
services in reference to insurance coverage and whether the use of the word
“provisional” would create barriers for trainees to be credentialed under other
insurances besides Medicaid. In response to Dr. Holland's inquiry, the executive
director explained that the language revisions in the regulation came directly from the
legislation that made the changes to the designations for Psychological Assistants and
Psychological Interns, and those legislative changes did not come from the Board. They
were driven by others outside of the Board and approved by the legislature.

On motion by Stephanie Holland, second by Catherine Pearson, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved LCB draft R041-25. (Yea: Lorraine
Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion
Carried: 4-0.

Dr. Benuto again opened the regulation hearing for public comment. There was no
public comment.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 4 of 15



ltem 3

Dr. Benuto closed the regulation hearing on R001-25.

4. Minutes. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve
the Minutes of the State of Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners’
October 24, 2025, Meeting and the November 12-14, 2025, Disciplinary
Hearing in Complaints #19-0626 and #24-0103.

Before entertaining a motion to approve the minutes from the October meeting and the
November disciplinary hearing, Dr. Benuto inquired as to process for approving the
November disciplinary hearing minutes. DAG Ward stated that the hearing was held
and recorded under the Open Meeting Law, so he requested that the Board approve the
minutes as to form, not content.

As to the October 24, 2025, minutes, the executive director noted that a minor
correction was requested and has been made for the final version of the minutes.

On motion by Catherine Pearson, second by Stephanie Holland, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved the meeting minutes of the
Regular Meeting of the Board held on October 24, 2025. Stephanie Woodard
approved the minutes as to form, but not content. (Yea. Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie
Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion Carried: 4-0, with the
minor correction the executive director noted.

On motion by Stephanie Woodard, second by Stephanie Holland, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved the minutes from the November
12-14, 2025, Disciplinary Hearing. The Board members approved the minutes as
to form, but not content. (Yea: Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie
Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion Carried: 4-0

5. Financials

- (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Final
Treasurer’s Report for Fiscal Year 2025 (July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025).

The executive Director presented the Board financials. As of November 30, 2025, the
Board had just under a combined total of $402,000 in checking and savings. The Board
is currently at just under 44% of its budgeted expenses, and about 55% of its budgeted
income, most of which is from the deferred income allocated to this second 2025-26
biennium quarter (and the first half of FY26). The executive director noted that, with
being just about halfway through the fiscal year, she will be making some revisions to
the Board’s budget to bring to the Board at the next meeting.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 5 of 15



ltem 3

The Board’s bookkeeper, Michelle Fox, has verified and validated the information being
provided in this Treasurer’s report for both October and November.

On motion by Stephanie Holland, second by Stephanie Woodard, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved the Treasurer’s Report for Fiscal
Year 2026. (Yea: Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and
Catherine Pearson.) Motion Carried. 4-0.

6. Legislative/Regulation Update

The executive director stated that the Board continues to make its way through the
regulatory changes that are required as a result of some of the legislative changes and
mandates from the 2025 Legislative session. She explained that the regulation
revisions in R192-24 (national exam regulation) have been submitted to the LCB and
will be included for review during the December 17, 2025, Legislative Commission
meeting, which she would be attending. As to R001-25 and R041-25, she referred to
the Board’s approval of those regulations during the hearing it had on those drafts
earlier in the meeting, and stated that they will be submitted to the LCB once the Board
approves the minutes from this meeting in which the regulation drafts were approved.
The Board office otherwise continues to make the administrative changes required to
comply with the 2025 legislation identified on the update table.

7. Report from the Nevada Psychological Association.

Dr. Christopher Shewbarran advised that the Nevada Psychological Association’s annual
conference will be the second Friday in May, for which the NPA invited Dr. Arthur
Evans, the CEO of the APA, to be the keynote speaker. He also stated that the Spring
Social is coming up.

8. Board Office Operations.

The Administrative Director provided an update on the Board'’s licensure, applicant,
state exam, and registrant statistics for October and November, 2025.

9. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action on Pending
Consumer Complaints:

A. Complaint #23-0918
DAG Ward stated that the complaint alleged various claims of improper conduct.
Respondent is represented by counsel, with whom a proposed disciplinary consent
decree is being finalized and, once finalized and signed, will come before the Board for
approval.

B. Complaint #24-0312(1)

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 6 of 15



ltem 3

DAG Ward stated that this is a complaint about certain representations the respondent
made online. A cease and desist letter was sent, in response to which the respondent
made revisions to their online information. A follow up cease and desist has been
forwarded to the respondent requesting that they remove additional language from all
online presences, and we are awaiting a response.

C. Complaints #24-0711

#24-0719

#24-0726

#24-0823
DAG Ward stated that these are four complaints against same psychologist. The
respondent, though counsel, has responded to the complaints, all complaints have been
forwarded to appropriate federal agencies, and witness interviews have taken place.
For the agencies the Complaints team has heard from, the information provided has not
included any action that is being taken on their part regarding the complaints. The
complaints team continues to review and consider these complaints in the context of
the Board’s jurisdiction.

D. Complaint #24-0730
DAG Ward stated that this is a complaint for unlicensed practice, in response to which
he sent and served several Cease and Dease letters. The respondent has not
responded to any of them. As a result, the Board has submitted a formal complaint to
the respondent’s licensing board. A complaint for injunctive relief has also been drafted
and is being prepared for filing in district court.

E. Complaint #25-0110
DAG Ward stated that this is a complaint for unlicensed practice, which was forwarded
to the respondent, and to which the respondent answered. Based on the information in
the respondent’s answer, DAG Ward has prepared draft consent decree to forward to
respondent. Service on the respondent is pending.

F. Complaint #25-0410
DAG Ward shared that this is a complaint for ethical violations. The complaint was
forwarded to the respondent for response, which has been received. The investigator
has conducted a witness interview, and the complainant provided additional
information, which was forwarded to the respondent for response. Based upon the
results of the investigation, a formal complaint and notice of hearing has been drafted
and forwarded to counsel for the respondent. Counsel for respondent is in contact with
DAG Ward about possible resolution.

G. Complaint #25-0414
DAG Ward stated that this is an anonymous complaint regarding unethical conduct. A
request to was made to the complainant for evidence or corroborating information
regarding the basis for the complaint, to which a response was received. The complaint

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 7 of 15



ltem 3

was forwarded to the respondent for a response. Respondent has retained counsel and
a response is to be forthcoming.

H. Complaint #25-0715
DAG Ward stated that this is a complaint alleging negligence, which was forwarded to
the respondent for response; respondent has submitted an answer to the complaint and
relevant records, which were forwarded to the investigator for review and
consideration. The Investigator has made a recommendation for a stipulated consent
agreement, which has been drafted and is pending review and service on counsel for
the respondent.

I. Complaint #25-0721
DAG Ward stated that this is a complaint by a social worker against a psychologist for
inappropriate and unethical conduct with complainant’s client (who was previously
respondent’s client). The complainant provided authorization to forward complaint to
the respondent for response, which has been received. The investigator has made
recommendations for a stipulated consent agreement, which has been sent to and
received by counsel for respondent.

J. Complaint #25-0812(2)
DAG Ward stated that this complaint alleges negligence related to an assessment. It
was forwarded to the respondents, who provided a response. The Investigator has
made recommendations for a stipulated consent decree, which has been drafted and
forwarded to the respondents. The respondents will provide their response to the
proposed stipulated consent decree in mid-December.

K. Complaint #25-0818(1)
No update was provided on this complaint.

L. Complaint #25-0925(2)
DAG Ward shared that this is a complaint regarding improper billing. The complaint has
been forwarded to the respondent for a response, which has been received. Based on
the information in the complaint and the response, dismissal of this case is
recommended based upon the information that the Board investigator assigned to this
case read into the record, a summary of which is as follows:

The complaint alleged that the respondent failed to notify the complainant of a change
in his insurance copay and that a balance was accruing on his account, that there was a
breach of trust in reference to discussing the complainant’s outstanding balance with
the respondent, and that sending the debt to a collection agency resulted in damage to
the complainant. After reviewing the complaint, the response to the complaint, and the
information that accompanied the response, the Board’s investigator determined that
the respondent is not in violation of any applicable standards of conduct. Based on the
evidence provided, the respondent made repeated efforts to notify the complainant of
the outstanding balance, tried to address the variations in reimbursement with the

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 8 of 15



ltem 3

complainant’s insurance company and keep the complainant apprised of those efforts,
and offered the complainant a discount on the bill and arrangements for a payment
plan, but without response from the complainant.

On motion by Catherine Pearson, second by Stephanie Woodard, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved dismissing Complaint #25-
0925(2). (Yea: Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and
Catherine Pearson.) Motion Carried: 4-0.

M. Complaint #25-1117
This complaint alleges unethical conduct against a psychologist. The complaint has
been forwarded to the respondent for a response, which is due later this month or the
beginning of January.

N. Complaint #25-1125
This is a complaint for unprofessional conduct, and has been forwarded to the
respondent for a response. Respondent has acknowledged receipt of the complaint and
has been granted a extension of time to the end of January to respond.

10. (For Possible Action) Review and Possible Action on Applications for
Licensure as a Psychologist or Registration as a Psychological Assistant,
Intern, or Trainee. The Board May Convene in Closed Session to Receive
Information Regarding Applicants, Which May Involve Considering the
Character, Alleged Misconduct, Professional Competence or Physical or
Mental Health of the Applicant (NRS 241.030). All Deliberation and Action
Will Occur in an Open Session.

The following applicants are recommended for approval of licensure contingent upon
completion of licensure requirements: Carolyn Gibson, Nancy Graies, Ari Lakritz,
Bahara Payandeh, Lucas Klein, Madison Martins, David Brown, Robert
Montgomery, Mary Ann Rowe, Arthur Bennett, Jr., Paula Wilbourne, Martha
Hernandez, and Stephen Francis.

On motion by Stephanie Holland, second by Catherine Pearson, the Nevada
State Board of Psychological Examiners approved the following applicants for
licensure contingent upon completion of licensure requirements: Carolyn
Gibson, Nancy Graies, Ari Lakritz, Bahara Payandeh, Lucas Klein, Madison
Martins, David Brown, Robert Montgomery, Mary Ann Rowe, Arthur Bennett,
Jr., Paula Wilbourne, Martha Hernandez, and Stephen Francis. (Yea: Lorraine
Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion
Carried: 4-0.

A. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action on Candis Mitchell’s EPPP
efforts Update.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 9 of 15




ltem 3

Dr. Benuto stated that, during the Board’s June 13, 2025, meeting, the Board
considered Dr. Candis Mitchell’s request to extend her registration as a Psychological
Assistant for a 7th year so that she could retake the EPPP to move toward licensure.
Due to the Board'’s regulatory limitations on how long a Psychological Assistant can be
registered and the reasons it enacted those limitations, the Board was cautious to
extend Dr. Mitchell’s Psychological Assistant registration, and requested that she appear
at the Board’s October meeting to provide an update on her efforts to retake the EPPP.
Because Dr. Mitchell did not appear for the October meeting, the Board tabled this item
for this meeting to hear from Dr. Mitchell on her EPPP efforts.

Dr. Mitchell was present and stated that she is scheduled to take the exam February 28,
2026, has obtained study materials, and has been studying.

B. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Consider Dr. Kristi
Walter’s Application for Re-licensure.

Dr. Benuto stated that Dr. Kristi Walter has applied to the Board to be re-licensed
following a 2017 disciplinary action through which Dr. Walter surrendered her

license. She explained that the resolution of that disciplinary action permitted Dr.
Walter to re-apply for licensure in the future, but under a number of conditions. Dr.
Benuto noted that the Board office has provided some information to the Board with
some historical information about the disciplinary action and included the conditions
that Dr. Walter is required to satisfy for re-licensure, as well as additional conditions the
Board is permitted to require.

Dr. Lenkeit stated that the voluntary surrender agreement spells out the requirements
for Dr. Walter to be re-licensed. He suggested that the Board require a written
statement from Dr. Walter regarding her professional activities and what she has done
since April 2019 so that the Board can consider anything further that needs to be done
before Dr. Walter can become licensed again.

Dr. Benuto inquired with the Board whether they have any further questions or
comments regarding Dr. Walter’s application and/or Dr. Lenkeit’s suggestion. DAG
Ward suggested that the Board table this agenda item and request the written
statement from Dr. Walter based on Dr. Lenkeit’s recommendation. The matter was
tabled for a future board meeting after receipt of Dr. Walter’s written statement that Dr.
Lenkeit recommended.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 10 of 15



ltem 3

C. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Dr. Dylena
Pierce’s request to extend her registration as a Psychological Assistant for a
Sixth Year.

President Benuto stated that Dr. Dylena Pierce has requested that her registration as a
Psychological Assistant for a sixth year so that she can retake the EPPP, and that Dr.
Pierce’s explanation in support of her request was provided to the Board.

On motion by Stephanie Holland, second by Stephanie Woodard, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved extending Dr. Dylena Pierce’s
Psychological Assistant registration for a sixth year. (Yea: Lorraine Benuto,
Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.) Motion Carried: 4-0.

11. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action on Updates
Regarding the Work of the 2025 SB165 Behavioral Health and Wellness
Practitioner Advisory Group.

Dr. Benuto stated that 2025 SB165 creates a new licensure designation that is to be
house in and regulated by the Board — the Behavioral Health and Wellness Practitioners.
She reminded the Board that, during the October meeting, it had appointed the 4
members of the SB165 Behavioral Health and Wellness Practitioner Advisory Group, one
of whom is Dr. Owens, who would be giving an update on the Advisory Group’s work.

In providing the update on the BHWP Advisory Group’s work, Dr. Owens stated that the
Advisory Group has met and, following their charges, the Group will be working on
finding grant money to help supplement the Board office needs as a result of SB165.
She explained that there was significant concern from the Board office regarding the
tremendous additional work that SB165 will impose on it, including the need for
additional staff to manage the additional work load. Additionally, the Advisory Group
will be meeting at the end of January to work on the regulations that SB165 requires,
as well as rules regarding the BHWP’s scope of practice and education and training.

Dr. Owens also stated that the Advisory Group requests the Board’s assistance in
helping to move the SB165 effort along. To that end, after its January 30, 2026,
meeting, the Advisory Group will be forwarding materials to the Board in preparation for
getting the effort moving along. She stated that, because this will be a huge
undertaking for the Board office as well as the Advisory Group, the Board’s cooperation
and help will be required.

12. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the
Fiscal Year 2025 Audit Report.

David Hines, Audit Manager with Campbell Jones Cohen CPAs, presented the Board’s
Audit Report for Fiscal Year 2025. In so doing, Mr. Hines reviewed the various sections

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 11 of 15



ltem 3

of the Audit Report, explaining and summarizing the content in each. First was the
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis, which provides the Board’s financial highlights,
an overview of the annual financial report, summaries of the statements of net position
and activities, general fund budgetary highlights, and economic factors and next year’s
budgets and rates. Mr. Hines went on to the auditors’ report and their opinion, and
highlighted changes in accounting principles that are being applied. He then explained
the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the modified accrual basis that is applied to
the Board’s finances, as well as the Governmental Fund Revenue, Expenditures, and
Changes in the fund balance, all in the context of the modified accrual basis on which
the Board’s finances are evaluated. In addressing the notes to the financial statements,
Mr. Hines explained the nature and a summary of the content of each. For instance,
Note 1 contains various accounting policies, budgeting processes, various definitions,
the nature of licensing fees received and applied incrementally over time, post
employment benefits, new accounting pronouncements, etc. Mr. Hines highlighted two
very large notes regarding pensions (Note 6) and other post-employment benefits other
than pensions (Note 7), both of which rely heavily on the State’s annual reporting
information that it issues. Mr. Hines noted that Note 9 is new information based on
compliance with new accounting standards implemented this fiscal year. As for the
supplemental budgetary comparison schedule, Mr. Hines explained the 2-year
budgeting cycle as it relates to the licensure renewal period, as well as the pension and
other post-employment benefits. Finally, Mr. Hines explained portion of the report
regarding internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters,
stating that there are no internal fiscal control findings for FY2025. They did not find
any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in reference to internal control.
They also did not find hon-compliance to be a material issue.

On motion by Stephanie Woodard, second by Stephanie Holland, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved the Audit Report for Fiscal Year
2025. (Yea: Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine
Pearson.) Motion Carried. 4-0.

13. (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Moving
Forward with Regulatory Language that Provides for Criminal and Other
Conduct as a Basis for Disciplinary Action and the Duty of Licensees to
Report Such Conduct.

The Executive Director explained that this was an item that had been included in the
agenda for the Board'’s October meeting, that being the issue of whether criminal and
other conduct that is not related to a licensee’s professional practice could be a basis
for discipline under the Board'’s statutes and regulations. It is an issue that has come
up in a couple of recent complaints. She stated that Board counsel had advised that,
unlike other Boards, this Board does not make criminal or other conduct not related to
the profession a basis for disciplinary action. To that end, she had provided the Board
with links to other Boards' regulations and statutes that address disciplinary action for

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 12 of 15



ltem 3

general criminal conduct not related to the profession. During the October meeting,
Board members indicated that they wanted to do a deeper dive into that information to
further discuss during this meeting.

The executive director reminded the Board that the question before it is whether it
wants to expand the basis for disciplinary action for criminal or other conduct that
aligns with how other Boards provide for disciplinary action based on criminal and other
conduct not specifically tied to the profession. At this point, it is a matter of gauging
whether there is consensus for expanding the Board'’s bases for imposing discipline to
include criminal conduct not related to the practice of psychology and, if so, what does
the Board want those regulatory revisions to look like based on the examples the Board
office has been given. With that information, the executive director stated that she can
work with Board counsel and the Complaints team to propose some regulatory
language for the Board to consider at a future Board meeting.

Referring to the information that the executive director provided regarding the other
boards that provide for criminal and other conduct not related to the profession as a
basis for discipline, Dr. Holland inquired about what boards other than this Board do
not. The executive director stated that the information she provided was focused on
the Boards that do have criminal and other conduct not related to the profession as a
basis for discipline, but was happy to further that information by identifying the boards
that do not and provide it to the Board for the next Board meeting.

Dr. Woodard inquired with DAG Ward about the absence of a regulation in support of
the current NRS poses a risk to the Board should it become aware of criminal conduct
that could be concerning if the Board is unable to take action. DAG Ward stated that
the Board has summary suspension in its regulations and statutorily, which has been
used in the past when someone was either convicted or arrested for a heinous crime,
such as murder, so the Board does have some authority in absence of a specific
statutory or regulatory provision to act or not act based on criminal conduct if
something major comes up.

Dr. Pearson inquired about whether NRS 641.230(1)(b) is too broad to encompass what
is being discussed, and whether some of the criminal conduct would influence the
ability to practice psychology even if the offense is not specifically related to the
practice of psychology. DAG Ward stated that it depends on the perspective and what
legal arguments the Board will get from legal counsel when they challenge any of the
statutes. An example of a statute that has been generally challenged is for *moral
turpitude” crimes because it is vague. He explained that if summary suspension is
used, the respondent has the opportunity to have a hearing within 30 days in order to
protect the due process rights of a licensee who has been summarily suspended, but
overall, the Board has a lot of discretion in these matters.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 13 of 15



ltem 3

Dr. Owens asked if DAG Ward could speak to how not moving forward with including
general criminal and other conduct as a basis for disciplinary action would protect the
public. DAG Ward noted that the Board has a duty to protect the public, so on a case-
by-case basis, he would review information brought to the Board about criminal conduct
and give a recommendation as to summary suspension or bring a complaint and
hearing under the ethics code. Dr. Owens clarified her inquiry in reference to the
Board'’s appetite for adopting additional regulatory language on this issue and the limits
it might create for its ability to protect the public. DAG Ward stated that without
additional language, all the Board has is summary suspension or complaint and notice
of hearing, depending on the nature of the conduct/crime.

Dr. Benuto noted there did not appear to be a strong appetite for additional regulatory
language. The executive director suggested that, because not all of the Board
members were in attendance, the item be tabled for a future board meeting for further
discussion.

The discussion was tabled for a future Board meeting.

14. (For Possible Action) Schedule of Future Board Meetings, Hearings, and
Workshops. The Board May Discuss and Decide Future Meeting Dates,
Hearing Dates, and Workshop Dates.

The Administrative Director proposed a meeting schedule for 2026 with a 6 week
cadence. She explained that was based on the Board office changes and the significant
preparation that goes into each of the Board’s meetings, and that a six week meeting
cadence would put the Board at about 8 meetings per year. She further stated that the
additional time between meetings would allow for thorough preparation and some
breathing room to attend to other board office duties, and that the next meeting under
that schedule would be January 23, 2026.

The executive director shared the proposed meeting dates for 2026 under a six week
meeting cadence.

Dr. Benuto stated that while she does not have an objection to the new meeting
schedule, she emphasized that it will be critical for all Board members to attend all
Board meetings because if a meeting does not have quorum, there will be a significant
gap in between meetings. She also requested that the Board be efficient with their
time during the Board meetings due to the additional content that is expected to be
included.

On motion by Stephanie Woodard, second by Catherine Pearson, the Nevada
Board of Psychological Examiners approved the proposed meeting schedule

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 14 of 15



ltem 3

for 2026, which provides for 8 meetings at a 6 week meeting cadence. (Yea:
Lorraine Benuto, Stephanie Woodard, Stephanie Holland, and Catherine Pearson.)
Motion Carried: 4-0.

Based on the Board’s approval of the proposed 2026 meeting schedule, Dr. Benuto
stated that the next regular meeting of the Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners
will be Friday, January 23, 2026, beginning at 8:00 a.m.

15. Requests for Future Board Meeting Agenda Items (No Discussion Among
the Members will Take Place on this Item)

There were no requests for future Board Meeting agenda items.

16. Public Comment - Public comment is welcomed by the Board and may be limited
to three minutes per person at the discretion of the Board President. Public
comment will be allowed at the beginning and end of the meeting, as noted on the
agenda. The Board President may allow additional time to be given a speaker as
time allows and in their sole discretion. Comments will not be restricted based on
viewpoint. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the
agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on an agenda as an
item upon which action may be taken (NRS 241.020).

Members of the public were reminded that they were not permitted to comment on
pending complaints before the Board.

There was no public comment.

17. (For Possible Action) Adjournment

There being no further business before the Board, President Dr. Benuto adjourned the
meeting at 9:33 a.m.

Board of Psychological Examiners, December 12, 2025
Meeting Minutes, Page 15 of 15



Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners
Board Meeting Staff Report

DATE: January 23, 2026

ITEM:

4 - (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve the Final Treasurer’s
Report for Fiscal Year 2026 (July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2026).

SUMMARY:

As of December 31, 2025, the Board had just under a combined total of $361,000 in checking
and savings. As of January 20, 2026, with the distributions being made for the third biennium
quarter, the Board is currently at about 67% of its budgeted expenses and a little over 91% of
its budgeted income, most of which is from the deferred income allocated to this second and
third 2025-26 biennium quarters.

The Board’s bookkeeper, Michelle Fox, has verified and validated the Board'’s financial
information.



NV State Board of Psychological Examiners
Budget to Actual - Fiscal Year 2026

1/20/26
FY26 Budgeted % actual
Amount ACILETEL to budget
INCOME
Cash
(Checking) 64,395.70 64,395.70
as of 7/1/2025
Deferred
Revenue
Renewals - 9
2600 7/1/24 and 1/1/25 202,646.74 202,646.74 100.00%
2600 Late Renewals - 1Q 25-26 17,990.30 17,990.30 100.00%
40201 New Licensure, Registrations
40281-3 : » Red ! 31,500.00 29,224.40 92.78%
Reinstatements
40203
Total Deferred 252,137.04 249,861.44|  99.10%
Income
Deferred PP fees 800.00 681.97 85.25%
Total NET Deferred Income 251,337.04 249,179.47
Regular 25-26 Biennium Q4 New
Revenue |Licensure and Registrations

Item 4



Applications

40100 Psychologist Application 22,500.00 9,381.10 41.69%

40101 PA Application 3,750.00 1,789.10 47.71%

40102 Intern Application 1,150.00 155.90 13.56%

40103 Trainee Application 4,500.00 1,085.40 24.12%

4010 Reinstatement/Reactivation 200.00 0.00%

4015 Psychologist State Exam 17,500.00 9,659.00 55.19%

4030 Non-Resident Consultant 1,000.00 400.00 40.00%

4040 CE App Fee 1,050.00 588.35 56.03%

Other
4025/4050 Late and License Restoration 250.00 0.00%
Fees
40251/40252 |New and Duplicate License 2,750.00 1,242.81 45.19%
4045 Verification of Licensure 650.00 224.20 34.49%
407574078 | OSUFines Recovered 2,200.00 2,000.00  90.91%
(Disciplinary)

4999 Interest, Misc 45.00 14.37 31.93%
Total Regular Revenue 57,545.00 26,540.23 46.12%
Total Revenue + Cash $373,277.74 $340,115.40( 91.12%
Payroll FY25 Budgeted % actual
Expenses Amount ACDLETL to budget

5100 Board Salary/Per Diem 6,500.00 2,250.00 34.62%

2700 Executive Director (net) 56,350.00 32,969.31 58.51%

2700 Administrative Director (net) 25,000.00 24,858.19 99.43%

2700 Board Staff (Flex/full time) 25,000.00 2,222.88

Item 4



2700 Staff Salary (Part-Time) 2,500.00 1,821.02 72.84%
9110 Staff Benefits 30,000.00 17,552.93 58.51%
2700 Investigator/Consultant Salary 15,000.00 15,462.12 103.08%
5250 Workers Compensation 1,500.00 3,480.26 232.02%
2108/5300 [PERS 55,000.00 34,719.46 63.13%
2100 Federal Payroll Taxes 35,000.00 18,401.14 52.57%
9100 Other Payroll Expenses 2,200.00 516.00 23.45%
Total Payroll 254,050.00 154,253.31 60.72%
Operating FY25 Budgeted % actual
Expenses Amount A LELEL to budget
6100 Out of State 7,500.00 2,159.03 28.79%
6200 In-State Travel 500.00 362.70 72.54%
7015 Office Supplies/furniture 1,000.00 313.14 31.31%
Office expenses:

7040 - Print-Copy 300.00 20.59 6.86%
7050 - Rent 20,000.00 9,540.00 47.70%
7100 - Postage 500.00 80.75 16.15%
7210 - Dolt Web SV 1,000.00 155.24 15.52%
7290/72902 | - Telephone/Internet & o
2200 Utilities 1,500.00 771.94 51.46%
7500 - Copy Lease 1,500.00 683.97 45.60%
7020 - Water/Misc 400.00 843.00 210.75%
7770/7777 |Software & Database 4,500.00 1,699.18 37.76%
8000/8010 |Legal & Professional Fees 40,000.00 47,305.51 118.26%
8015 Tort Claim 1,550.00 1,507.00 97.23%
8050/8055 | rofessional Services (Auditor, 20,000.00 18,152.50|  90.76%

Bookkeeper, Lobbyist)

Item 4



Dues & Reg (ASPPB, Conf,

0,
8250 Continuing Ed) 5,000.00 5,334.00 106.68%
8520 Admin Services (LCB) 1,000.00 750.00 75.00%
9001/9002 |Banking Fees 100.00 20.00 20.00%
PayPal Fees (against regular 2,500.00 216.43 28.66%
revenue)
90100 Miscellaneous Expense 0.00
Uncategorized Expense 0.00
Total Expenses $108,850.00 $90,414.98| 83.06%
Total Expenses + Payroll $362,900.00 $244,668.29| 67.42%
Total Income + Cash $ 373,277.74 $340,115.40| 91.12%
Final Balance $10,377.74 $95,447.11

Item 4



Item 4

January 14, 2026

Statement of Financial Position

As of December 31, 2025

Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners
As verified by Michelle Fox

The following accounts have been reconciled for the month of December 2025, and all
transactions reviewed for accuracy.

Main Checking Account per bank statement dated 12/31/2025 -$255,647.65
Savings Account per bank statement dated 12/31/2025 -$105,147.30

Wechele Foy

Michelle Fox



Statement of Financial Position

NV State Board of Psychological Examiners
As of January 20, 2026

Item 4

DISTRIBUTION ACCOUNT TOTAL
Assets
Current Assets
Bank Accounts
1100 Cash in Bank 224,443.30
3309 Savings 105,147.30
Total for Bank Accounts $329,590.60
Accounts Receivable
1200 Accounts Receivable 3,837.71
Total for Accounts Receivable $3,837.71
Other Current Assets
1103 Prepaid Expenses (deleted) 0.00
12000 Undeposited Funds 0.00
Uncategorized Asset 0.00
Total for Other Current Assets $0.00
Total for Current Assets $333,428.31
Other Assets
1300 Deferred outflows of resources 0.00
Total for Other Assets $0.00
Total for Assets $333,428.31
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
1106 Accounts Payable 2,551.38
Total for Accounts Payable $2,551.38
Other Current Liabilities
1110 Accrued Payroll (deleted) 0.00
2100 Federal Income Withholding 29,980.44
2100 Payroll Liabilities $4,337.10
2107 Federal Taxes (941/944) -76.15
2108 PERS 24,253.46
Health Insurance 2,699.12
NV Unemployment Tax 0.00



Item 4
Statement of Financial Position

NV State Board of Psychological Examiners
As of January 20, 2026

DISTRIBUTION ACCOUNT TOTAL
Total for 2100 Payroll Liabilities $31,213.53
2101 Federal FICA Withholding 0.00
2102 Federal Medicare Withhold 0.00
2105 Employment Security 0.00
2110 Direct Deposit Liabilities 0.00
2200 Unearned Revenue 0.00
2300 Liability 0.00
2302 Accrued PTO 13,013.73
2450 Deferred inflow-pension 0.00
2455 Net pension liability 0.00
2600 Deferred Revenue 139,892.42
2700 Direct Deposit Payable 0.00
Total for Other Current Liabilities $214,100.12

Total for Current Liabilities $216,651.50
Total for Liabilities $216,651.50
Equity
3000 Opening Bal Equity -60.41
3900 2550 Fund Balance 137,997.56
Net Income -21,160.34
Total for Equity $116,776.81
Total for Liabilities and Equity $333,428.31




NV State Board of Psychological Examiners

Statement of Activity

July 1, 2025-January 20, 2026

Item 4

DISTRIBUTION ACCOUNT TOTAL
Income
4010 Psychologist Application
40100 Psychologist Application 9,381.10
40101 PA Application 1,789.10
40102 Intern Application 155.90
40103 Trainee Application 1,085.40
Total for 4010 Psychologist Application $12,411.50
4015 Psychologist State Exam 9,659.00
4020 Psych Biennial $217,614.07
40201 Prorated Psych Biennial 20,546.21
Total for 4020 Psych Biennial $238,160.28
4025 Psychologist Licensing Fee
40251 New License 1,050.00
40252 Change/Duplicate/Reinstatement 192.81
Total for 4025 Psychologist Licensing Fee $1,242.81
4028 Registration Fee
40281 Psych Asst fee 2,794.50
40282 Psych Intern Fee 155.25
40283 Psych Trainee 164.70
Total for 4028 Registration Fee $3,114.45
4030 Non-Resident Consultant 400.00
4040 CE App Fee 588.35
4045 Verification of Licensure 224.20
4075 Restitution of Legal Costs 1,000.00
4078 Legal Fines recovered 1,000.00
4999 Interest 14.37
Total for Income $267,814.96
Gross Profit $267,814.96
Expenses
2106 Posting error -1,370.59
307910 7210 Dolt Web SVb 155.24
5100 Board Sal 2,250.00
5175 Board Staf
51753 Investigator Salary 12,789.00
Total for 5175 Board Staf $12,789.00
5250 Workers Compensation 3,480.26
5300 PERS 21,488.32



Item 4

Statement of Activity

NV State Board of Psychological Examiners
July 1, 2025-January 20, 2026

DISTRIBUTION ACCOUNT TOTAL
6100 Out of State Travel -$900.75
6101 Meals 132.26
6102 Lodging 2,119.62
6105 Auto-Public Carrier 131.05
6106 Air Tvl 676.85
Total for 6100 Out of State Travel $2,159.03
6200 In State Travel $102.29
6201 Meals 260.41
Total for 6200 In State Travel $362.70
7015 Supplies 313.14
7020 Office Expense $754.00
7040 Print-Copy 20.59
7050 Rent 9,540.00
85100 Shredding 89.00
Total for 7020 Office Expense $10,403.59
7100 Postage 80.75
7200 Utilities $323.31
7290 Telephone
72902 Internet 448.63
Total for 7290 Telephone $448.63
Total for 7200 Utilities $771.94
7500 Copy Lease 683.97
7770 Software 1,699.18
8000 Legal & Professional Fees $18,566.05
8010 Legal 28,739.46
8015 Tort Claim 1,507.00
Total for 8000 Legal & Professional Fees $48,812.51
8050 Prof Servs 18,152.50
8250 Dues & Reg $2,947.00
8255 Membership 2,387.00
Total for 8250 Dues & Reg $5,334.00
8500 Admin Serv
8520 LCB 750.00
Total for 8500 Admin Serv $750.00
9001 Banking Fees
9002 Bank Crgs 20.00

Total for 9001 Banking Fees $20.00



Statement of Activity

NV State Board of Psychological Examiners
July 1, 2025-January 20, 2026

Item 4

DISTRIBUTION ACCOUNT TOTAL
9100 Payroll Expenses $2,337.02
9110 Company Contributions $83.86
Health Insurance 17,552.93
Retirement 16,721.64
Total for 9110 Company Contributions $34,358.43
9130 Wages 90,424.95
Taxes
9111 Federal Taxes (941/944) 20,542.16
NV Unemployment Tax 0.00
Total for Taxes $20,542.16
Total for 9100 Payroll Expenses $147,662.56
9135 PTO Expense 6,135.85
PayPal Fees 1,423.08
Reimbursements 5,418.27
Total for Expenses $288,975.30
Net Operating Income -$21,160.34

Net Other Income

Net Income

-$21,160.34




ltem 5

Regulation Revisions Table

Legislative File No.

Description

Status

National Exam

Went before and was approved by the
Legislative Commission during its December 17,

R192-24 ) ) ) .
Regulation 2025, hearing. Itis now available on the
Board’s website under NAC changes.
Approved by the Board during the December
RO01-25 Continuing Education 12, 2025, meeting; to be submitted to the LCB
Regulation once the Board’s December 12, 2025, meeting
minutes are approved.
Approved by the Board during the December
R041-25 Regulation revisions per | 12, 2025, meeting; to be submitted to the LCB
SB251 and AB196 once the Board’s December 12, 2025, meeting
minutes are approved.
2025 Legislative Session
Bill No Description Status
BHWP Advisory group and its
Revises NRS Chapter 641 (Psychologists) to scope of work have been
SB165 provide for the licensure, regulation, created. Advisory Group had first
investigation, and discipline of Behavioral Health | meeting on 12/3/2025, and is
and Wellness Practitioners scheduled for an all-day meeting
on January 30, 2026.
Revises NRS Chapter 641 (Psychologists) Legislative changes to
SB251 relating to Psychological Assistants, terminology have been

Psychological Interns, and Psychological

Trainees.

administratively incorporated and
are in effect.



https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12183/Overview
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12385/Overview

Board Office Statistics Fiscal Year 26

ltem 7
FY25
7/25 | 8/25(9/25|10/25(11/25|12/25]| 1/26| 2/26 | 3/26|4/26|5/26|6/26 Totals
'f'censdes 4 | 75] 9] 8] s 39
Psychologists ASSUI? on
pplcations g 1 7 1 9| 8 | 5 | 11 46
Received
Provisional
Psychological Iflcenzes 1 1 5 2 3 2 14
CEEES As suI(iecations
PPN 4 | 11| 2] 0] 2 10
Received
Provisional
Licenses 2 1 0 0 1 0 4
Psychological Interns |Issued
Appl|_cat|ons 0 0 0 0 0 1 1
Received
Registrations
Psychological Issued 5 & . : v v 17
Trainees Appll_catlons 2 1 1 0 0 0 4
Received
Non-Resident Registrations
Consultants Issued 0 0 1 0 0 1 2
Background Checks |Reviewed 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Continuing Education App_llcatlons 3 2 2 3 1 2 13
Reviewed
State Exams Administered 8 9 11 9 3 5 45
Complaints Received 6 3 5 1 2 1 18
Totals 40 43 | 41| 35 23 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 213

Current Active Licensees - 2025-26 biennium: 751

Current Applications and Registrations:
App Re
Psychologists 149 i
Psychological Assistants 11 31
Psychological Interns 4 8
Psychological Trainees 9 38




Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners
Board Meeting Staff Report

DATE: January 23, 2026

ITEM:

11 - (For Possible Action) Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Moving Forward with
Regulatory Language that Provides for Criminal and Other Conduct as a Basis for
Disciplinary Action and the Duty of Licensees to Report Such Conduct.

SUMMARY:

The Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners (NBOPE) was recently made aware that, unlike
many other Nevada licensing boards, it does not provide for disciplinary action against a
licensee who is charged with and/or been convicted of criminal conduct beyond that which is
related to the profession — in NBOPE’s case, the practice of psychology. Also unlike some other
licensing boards, NBOPE does not have a specific conduct reporting requirement beyond its
biennial renewal disciplinary/conduct reporting form. To that end, it was suggested that NBOPE
consider adopting regulations similar to those of other licensing boards that:

- permit disciplinary action against a psychologist for criminal and/or other conduct so
that it can pursue disciplinary action for a licensee’s conduct beyond that which only
concerns the practice of psychology; and

- require that licensees report to the Board within a certain time frame any criminal and
other conduct.

Before considering specific regulatory language that provides for criminal and other conduct as
a basis for disciplinary action, NBOPE needs to determine whether it has an appetite for drafting
and including some version of the language that other licensing boards have that permits them
to pursue disciplinary action against a licensee for criminal and/or other conduct beyond that
which is related to the profession, and whether it wants to impose a reporting requirement for
such conduct. The publicly-available statutes and regulations of other licensing boards that
provide for disciplinary action for criminal and other conduct range:

- from broadly stated provisions to listing specific criminal activity and other conduct; and

- permitting disciplinary action based on both criminal charges/civil actions and
convictions/judgments to only permitting disciplinary action on criminal convictions
and/or civil judgments.

As for other licensing boards’ conduct reporting requirements, they vary in the timeframes for
reporting (i.e., 24 hours, 10 days, 15 days, 30 days) and on what is required to be reported.



Should NBOPE decide to draft and include regulatory language related to criminal and/or other
conduct that extends beyond the practice of psychology and any reporting requirements, it will
need to determine the scope and extent of that regulatory language. The examples from other
licensing boards may be informative as to that determination.



	FY26



